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The Construction and Owners
of 810 D Street

HE first documented
Y,/ owner of 810 D Street was
/f v James T. Keliher, who first
@ appeared at the address in

) - the 1870 City Directory.
The year previous, he had resided close
by at 527 10t Street. 810 D Street was
built for Keliher sometime in late 1869
or early 1870. At the time of his initial
occupation, he indicated that he was
employed as a clerk, when such a job
was an appointed position in the
government. He listed his address
simply as “D near 9t Street, N.E.” Much
of the surrounding area at the time was
vast open land, dotted with orchards and
farm plantings.

By 1874, Keliher had
changed his occupation to
laborer. The tax assessment
from that year listed his frame
house with a value of $550. It was situated on lot number 8 of Square 915 South. Other
homes on the Square were valued that year from $150 to $1,000.

The first census that captured residents of 810 D Street was enumerated in 1880.
That record revealed that James Keliher lived at the house along with his wife Mary.
James was then age 60, having been born in December of 1821 in Ireland, and was listed
as a laborer. Both of his parents had also been born in Ireland. His wife Mary was then
age 54, having been born in Virginia 1826. It was also the birthplace of both of her
parents. She listed her occupation as “keeping house.” The couple lived there along
with their two children, James, Jr., age 22, and Margaret, age 20, both of whom had
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been born in Washington, DC. James Keliher Jr., listed his occupation as a carpenter,
and would have been 12 years old when the family built a new house around the corner.
Margaret listed no occupation.

Incredibly, The Keliher family would remain owners of 810 D Street for 90
years, until 1960, when James Keliher’s granddaughter sold the house. Unfortunately,
almost the entire 1890 census for the country was destroyed in a disastrous fire at the
Commerce Building in January of 1921. Of the 62,979,766 persons enumerated in 1890,
a total of 6,160 names could be extracted from the surviving schedules; the only
remaining census information from that year for the District of Columbia that survives

is a three block area AL 7 | 2] W
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was enumerated in
1900. Additional questions on that year’s census revealed that James Sr., had
immigrated from Ireland in 1848, when he would have been age 28. He was listed in
the 1900 census as a 78-year-old widower. His daughter Margaret was listed as the
head of the household in 1900, as a widow of Michael J. Bresnahen. She was then age
40, having been born in December 1859. She and her father lived at 810 D Street along
with her five children. Margaret Bresnahen’s children in 1900 included Edward, age 12,
James, age 11, Emma, age 9, Robert, age 7,and Thomas, age 4.

7o ol d Mol Xl st The 1910
, R ., | i bk =\ W\ Salwi: || census enumerator
: ’ [ iWler S recorded that James
Mgtls Keliher acted as the
4 V‘? 533 head of the

' ';Z P household that year
% el for 810 D Street,
then age 92. His daughter Margaret and her five children remained at the house, a few
old enough to have accepted various jobs since the prior census was recorded. Edward
Bresnahen was then age 22 and employed as an apprentice bricklayer for a builder,
while 21-year-old James was a chauffeur for a delivery wagon. 19-year-old Mary was
employed as a saleslady at a stationery store, and Robert, then age 17, worked as a
driver for a delivery wagon. Even youngest son Thomas worked to help support the
family, he too a driver for a delivery wagon.

The 1920 census revealed that only Margaret Bresnahen and her son Edward
remained at the house; at the time he was age 32 and was employed as a fireman in the
District of Columbia. However, the 1928 City Directory reveals that son James T. and
Edward returned to the house. James had been living at 7 Rhode Island Avenue, N.E.,
and was employed as an office manager for Western Union Telegraph Company while




Edward was still employed as a bricklayer. In 1982, only daughter Emma was listed at
the house, the widow of Albert Lawson. At the time, she was employed as a charwoman
at the Southern Building, a building built at 15t and H Streets N. W. in 1910.

Beginning in 1950, Emma Lawson discontinued listing an occupation, likely
spending her time at 810 D Street in retirement. On October 6, 1960, she sold the
family home after 90 years of ownership to Corey W. Brincefield. He was the owner of
the Brincefield Construction Company, which was then located at 5107 45t Street, with
a satellite office at 11 H Street, N.W.

Just a year later, however, on March 28, 1961, Brincefield sold the house (likely
after improvements were made) to the Home Mortgage Investment Corporation. They
actually retained ownership of the house until selling it back to Brincefield on October
15, 1965. In the interim, the company leased the house to Mrs. Inez R. Isom, who listed
no occupation while in residence.

From 1965 to 1972, when Corey Brincefield owned the house, it was leased to
Helen E. James. On April 27, 1972, Brincefield sold 810 D Street to Andre and Barry
N. Fields for $25,000. The house experienced the next thirty years with minimal or no
maintenance, and repeated financing and liens.

In 2002, however, the house was purchased by Lazarus LLC, who began a period
of restoration and recreation by rebuilding and updating each amenity of the 182 year
old residence, returning it to a welcome and inviting home seen today.
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The Development of the
800 Block of D Street

HE first map of
Y,/ Square 915 South
was plotted in
1874, seen at left,
showing the
recent subdivision of the Square
by owner George F. Dyer. He
broke up the large parcel of
land into lots numbered 1 to 26
on July 1, 1857. Actual
building on individual lots was
slow to commence, however,
with the house at 810 D Street
being one of the first wood
frame houses built, on lot 8 in
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1870; a house that remains to
this day.

In 1874, the entire

Square had only twelve residential buildings on it; seven of which were frame and
valued between $150 and $800. The five brick structures were then valued between
$600 and $1,000. In addition, the Square featured one stable valued at $50 on lot 9.
Homes along D Street included a brick house on lot 18, frame houses on lots 12 and 13,

and frame house on lot 7.

All of these buildings were
constructed before the need of a
Washington D.C. building permit,
which was not a requirement until
November of 1877. At right, the
Hopkin’s map from 1887 shows the
addition of several new homes along
the block, some of which replaced
earlier frame dwellings.

The house at 800 D Street
was awarded a permit to build on
September 22, 1880, while a rear
brick addition was added to the house
at 804 D Street in March of 1883.
The house at 814 D Street was built
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in 1887, while those at 816 to 826 were built simultaneously following the issuance of
their permit on August 27, 1888. August Getz received a permit to build 806 D Street
on February 4, 1892. —

Close by, the Edmonds School at
the corner of 9t and D Street was
designed in 1902 by the architectural
firm of Marsh & Peter. It was built the
following year by the construction firm
of Pavarini & Greer. Its image appeared
in the Washington Star newspaper in
1908, illustrated at right.

The 9th Street Christian Church
in the 800 block of D Street was built
about 1910. It appeared in the Washington Star edition of December 2, 1944, along with
a portrait of then Reverend Dr. Carroll C. Roberts, seen below. However, the Way of
the Cross Church of Christ has been utilizing the building since 1963. In February
of 1928, a small group consisting of five persons assembled together with express
purpose of starting a church. This pioneer group, which had gathered themselves at the
home of Deacon Charles Johnson, one of its members, consisted of the late founder
Bishop H. C. Brooks (below) and Sisters Alice Johnson, Lovie Brown, and Rosa Bell

“Howard,

In December of 19383 the
church was incorporated, taking to
itself the power to establish and
organize other churches, and to
ordain Ministers. It was at this time
that Elder H. C. Brooks was
consecrated as Bishop. After five
years at a 21st and M Street location,
the membership soon exceeded the
church seating capacity, and
preparations began to raise funds for

a down payment on another church.
In May of 1985 the church relocated
at 4th and Virginia Avenue, S.E.,
where it remained
for the next
twenty-eight years.
ople, and there were some
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This new edifice seated twelve hund

red pe
who insisted that it was much too large.

In 1954 land next to the church was purchased for the
building of an annex for which the cornerstone was laid on Labor

Day 1955. The church continued to prosper and grow, but highway
construction in 1968 brought to a close the glorious period of nearly
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three decades which the church spent in its location at 4th and Virginia Avenue, S.E.,
forcing the church to move to its present location at 9th and D Streets. After pastoring
the church 40 years, Bishop H. C. Brooks died at the location on June 12, 1967.
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, @ . E';}— In May of 1947, Capitol Hill
\\\f resident Theodore J. Rubin compiled
\ information for his thesis on census tract
& ‘ #81, which included Square 915 South,
R 4 R seen at left and labeled block #3. To the
:% % immediate west of 810 D Street was the
%: % William Shike barbershop, while the
3‘5 % corner of 9th and D 3.
RS | servedasalocal || gy v e,
market that year. Bl DC Westierstv G
e 7
R s @l The D Street trolley O My A Gro
: : line No. 42 can also O Lorsertys Serivie 947
f)/'} R @ be seen, then (&) Feww G Lovnty
;Z‘K traveling directly in (7 FFichonsons - ombiiy
§ front of 810 D G/ drevicar Zetistteren
% é”f © Street. Across the @7% /riov Cr iaid
street, the church B 77e Borbors e tries)
ildi i th Qe e . (984 D Posrdet
building was then occupied by the 9th Street Christian Church.
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Capitol Hill,
A Brief History

—_—

While the Capitol
Hill neighborhoog
undoubtedly derives its
name from itg Proximity
to the United Stateg
Capitol, it ig not in fact
actually located op 4 Hill.
The Capito] building is
situated on the highest
point of land between the
Anacostia and Potomac

rivers, hence the name

“Capitol Hill” fo the campuys Surrounding the majy building for the legislative brancp, of
the government. "The neighborhoog known as Capitol Hill was developed on the high
plateau €xtending east from the crest of the hil],

closer to the present-day edge of the river is all more recent than the stock further
inland.)

At the midpoint of East Capitol Street, L'Enfant also designed 4 park (now
Lincoln Park) to house g “historic column from whose Station, [a mile from the Federa]
House7, all distances of places through the Continent, are to be calculated ” While the
landmark colymy never materialized, the park that served a4 the outer boundary of the
neighborhood in 1876 did receive Thomas Baly’s Emancipation Monument, whigp, was
designed, built and erected solely with contributiong from freed slaves.

The first neighborhood called “Capito] Hjjp» Was a small cluster of homes locateq
at First and Second Streets along New Jersey Avenue, SE, around 1800. Fey
Congressmen preferred to establish permanent residence in the city during the early
years of the Republic anq chose instead to Tent rooms in one of the numerous boarding
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houses located withjp, walking distance of the Capito], This cluster remained the
Primary residential areg of the neighborhood fop the first Several decades of the 19th
century, Two houses from thig period sti]] stand, at Nos 20 and 29 Third Street, S.E,
dating back ¢, around 1890

quality homeg Were constructed iy, the Surrounding aregg to house skilleq and unskilleq
construction laborers, The Image beloy shows a woo( fr
Navy Yard ip 1866, )

Construction in southeast

ashington rémained slow during
the first half of the 19th century,
however. The boarding—house
quarter close to the Capitol began
eXpanding Somewhat by 1850, and
Several merchantg had begun ¢
construct storeg to serve the
ETOWIng residen ig] Population
around the Maripe Barracks, A few
of the homeg dating from this period
remain standing, Perhaps the begy
known of which is Jocateq at 826 A
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During the Civi]

War, when new
construction wag g] but
completely halted, map

omes on Capito] HjJ]
doubled Up as hospitalsg
and boarding houses,
F ollowing the war,
builder Captain Alfyeq
Grant attempted tq
develop an greq of the
Hill into 4 lavish and
highly desirab]e
residentia]
neighborhood. In 187 1,
Grant Speculatively
Constructed g row of 16
mansions along A Street
and 14 mangjons on East

Notorions Vice president of the Board of Public
Works, Alexander “Boss” Shepher X illustrated at
right, Proposed a cjvie improvemen¢ scheme for

ashington in g7 1 that had 4 budget of g6 million
and stimulateq €W construction g] over the city
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Even with the brisk pace of development,
however, the housing market could pot keep pace
with the influx of new workers, and Mmany Capito]
Hill homeownerg built addition Or rented roomg
throughout the 1880s.

The area noy known as the Capitol Hijj
Historic District wag Primarily byt up on a

Se
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